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At this time the population of Ha Wan was 4861 (G.N. 21 of the
Government gazette for 5th March 1859),

Observation Point must be the Observation Place shown on the
Map accompanying Mr. Chadwick’s Report on the Sanitary Con-
dition of Hong Kong, published by the Colonial Cffice in 1882.
The map shows Ha Wan as District No. 6 and Wanchai as District
No. 7. This indicates that Wanchai was taken from it at some date
between 1857 and 1882. Observation Place is shown at p. 46 of the
Index to the Streets, House Nos. and Lots in the Colony of Hong
Kong, 1903, and may be identified with the lower end of the present
Tin Lok Lane- near its junction with Mennessy Road, then seashore.

Wanchai was one of the first districts to be developed after the
British Occupation of the Island in 1841, The Reverend Carl T.
Smith has kindly provided an account of this development, based
on his original researches into Hong Kong records. This is attached
as a separate Note.

The Itinerary and Places of Interest

The party will follow a circuitous route among the back streets,
steps and terraces of old Wanchai between Monmouth Path in the
west and Stone Nullah Lane on the east.

Among the places of interest to be visited are several Chinese
temples and shrines as follows —

1) The Pak Kung Shrire at the side of No. 7, Star Street. This
was established before the War, probably upwards of 70 years
ago. The shrine is a To Tei Miu ( 2 . ) or altar to the earth
god. The main festival of the year falls on the 2nd day of the
second lunar month when the management commitiee of local
residents organises a religious and social celebration,

2) Hung Shing Temple, Queen’s Road East. This temple is ong
of the oldest of the area and may even have existed as a shrine
before the British Occupation of the Island., According to Cart
Smith there was a small seitlement nearby which may have
provided the body of regular worshippers, along with visiting
beat people.

The present stiucture dates from Hsien Feng 10th year {(1860-
61), repaired in T’ung Chih 6th year (1867-68): when the pes-
sons responsible are listed as ‘the whole body of devout Hong
Kong believers’. These dates point to an earlier origin, and
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there is a shrine at the rear inscribed Tao Kuang 27th year
(1847-48).
Points of interest are the excellent granite work screen and
balustrade along the whole front of the tempie: the Shek Wan
pottery decorations on the roof (Hsuan-Tung Ist year: 1908-
09) and the large boulder inside the building which was pro-
bably the uncovered site of the original shrine. (There is a
similar one inside the Lin Fa Kung temple at Tai Hang, which
is of approximately the same age.)
The Sui Tsing Pak temple at Tik Lung Lane. This is not
housed in a temple building but in several houses in a terrace.
The god is said to have been a man named Chan () enobled
as marquis (4-) who lived in the Sung dynasty and performed
many good deeds. His title means the ‘Pacifying Marquis’ ( #
Aw). The date of its establishment is not known, but several
of the memorial boards inside the temple carry inscriptions in
the Jate Kuang Hsii reign (1875-1908). Among them are boards
presented by residents of “The Thirty Houses (the local Chinese
name for Staunton Sirect, in Central District) and another by
the community of Hung Hom village in Kowloon.
The upstairs rooms are devoted largely to the care and worship
of memorial tablets, many with photographs of the deceased,
placed there for a subscription by friends and relatives.
This temple is of particular interest for the various art objects
and antiquities kept inside the upper rooms, which make it
almost a museum. They include paintings and porcelain, The
interior decoration of the temple should also be noted especially
the screens and fittings for the various altars upstairs which
are probably at least 60 years old.
Yuk Hai Kung Temple ( % £ %), Stone Nullah Lane. This
temple to Pak Tai, the god of the North (3L # ), is again of
early origin. According to an inscription above the enirance,
the present structure: dates from the first year of the T’ung Chih
reign (1862-63). This is a large temple with side rooms which
is still in an excellent state of repair. The building on the
right of the temple is a public office or kung sor (4 ff) in
which the temple management committee met to discuss the
affairs of the temple and the neighbourhood. It was, as Carl
Smith remarks, under the contro] of the Wanchai Kaifong from
1882 and before.
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The roof is also of considerable interest, being again provided

with the pottery frieze so common in temples in Southern

China, dated Kuang Hsii 33rd year (1907-08). Again this

comes from the Shek Wan kilns.

The temple is also remarkable for a very large image which

has somehow found its way there, though it is much older than

the building. It is, in fact, of the Ming dynasty and carrics

the following inscription —
ARALBZ+—FRKXBIPERT IR

which dates it to the end of 1603.

5) Terrace Houses and Individual Buildings en route

In the course of the visit, members will have the opportunity
to see individual old buildings and in some cases whole terraces
of houses. These appear to vary widely in date. Some belohg
to the late 19th century while others date from the early
decades of this century. In all cases, however, they are of con-
siderable interest and appeal, though their number has sadly
diminished in the post-war years.

Further Information

Mzr. Henry James Lethbridge: who has researched into the his-
tory of 19th century Hong Kong, informs me that a large number
of the married European policemen, turnkeys and minor Govern-
ment functionaries lived in Wanchai before 1900, cheek by jowl
with Chinese (unlike the senior European officials who generally
lived apart from them). Many of these persons moved to Kowloon
whery this was developed for residential purposes early in this cen-
tury.
Mr. Lethbridge also states that many Japanese lived in Wanchai
from the early 1900’s. They included gitls and brothels and during
the Japanese Occupation of Hong Kong 1941-45, the military au-
thorities designated it as a ‘red light’ area.

Notes on the Nineteenth Century Development of Wanchai*

The first land sale in Hong Kong in June 1841, consisied of a
continuous line of Marine Lots marked off from the Chinese section
of the Lower Bazaar (Sheung Wan) eastward to Hospital Hill (now
the site of the Ruttonjee Sanatorium) at the east end of Wanchai.
Individuals and firms bought lots in the Wanchai area and built

* By Carl Smith.
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large dwellings and godowns. It was a pleasant area. Two of the
properties were especially noted for their gardens. A Parsee mer-
chant, Framjee Jamsetjee, in advertising his property for sale in
1845, stated that it was “beautifully situated by the water side with
a fine view of the Bay, surrounded by a garden, stocked with the
choicest plants which have been imported at great expense, and
now is in a flourishing condition.” The other gardened property
was called Spring Gardens, and for a number of the years the name
was applied to the area. The name is preserved today by Spring
Gardens Lane which marks the eastern boundary of the original
property. The dwelling was aiso known as “Cld Government
House” for at one time it had been the residence of Governor
Bonham [1848-1854]. Advertisements mention its “ornamental
grounds” and “fine well of spring water with powerful iron pump”.

When the military gradually bought up and occupied the area
between Central District and Wanchai in the 1840s and 1850s, the
two sections were separated and Spring Gardens area lost most of
its commercial activity. Decline set in, reinforced by a business
depression, and a number of godowns and dwellings stood empty.
Several of the properties reverted to Government through non-
payment of Crown rents. Others were foreclosed by mortgagees.
The military took advantage of the empty premises to use them as
barracks and officers’ quarters.

Poor Chinese settled as squatiers both on the west and east
fringes of Victoria. Te accommodate these on the east the Govern-
ment put up for sale in 1847 a range of lots at the foot of Hospital
Hili along the present Wanchai Road. These were used for small
shops, trades, and family residences. The populaiion, however,
tended to remain poor and unruly. With the influx of displaced
people during the Tai Ping Rebellion in the 1850s several of the
Buropean properties were redeveloped with Chinese housing.

The area near Queen’s Road East and Ship Sireet was probably
the site of a small setilement before the British occupation of the
Island. Eitel in his history of Hong Kong states that the Hung
Shing Temple on Queen’s Road East existed before the cession.
The pattern of the lots also suggests that there may have been pre-
vious occupants. When the military rented some vacant properties
nearby for barracks, several brothels were established on Ship
Street north of Queen’s Road East. To the south, up the hill on
Ship Street, there were several small dairies operated by Chinese.
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Another temple, that of Yuk Hui Kung, is on Lung On Street.
It was probably built in the early 1860s. It is not listed in the 1860
Rates, but is on the next extant list, that of 1865. The 1882 Rates
mention that the temple was managed by the Wanchai Kaifong. *
The surrounding lots from Stone Nullah Lane to Kennedy Street
were bought at government land sale in 1862 by the Pang and Chan
families, who developed them for Chinese family houses. Lung On
Street was originally called Fourth Street, being that number south
of Queen’s Road Fast. On First Street, now King Sing Street. a
hospital was opened. It was built on a lot purchased by Leung
King Ham, a government school teacher, under the name Tong
Tuck Tong, in 1867. With the organisation of Tung Wah Hospital,
Leung King Him (sic) and Leung Shun Ng petitioned in 1872 that
the hospital be merged with the new Tung Wah.* A controversy
arose, and the Leungs published a pamphlet charging Wong Fung
Wan and Wong Yow Ho. members of the managing commitiee,
with embezzling funds granted by Government to the Wanchai
Hospital, This resulted in a libel case. The 1872 Rate names it as
the Wah Tong Hospital with Leung Shan Ng and Leung Yung Choi
as the resident doctors.

To the south of Queen’s Road East beiween Monmouth Path
and Wing Fung Strect, the land was used as timber yards. To the
east, on land now covered by Sun, Moon and Star Streets, was the
first Protestant Cemetery in Hong Kong. As there was increasingly
more building along Queen’s Road, the situation was considered
unsatisfactory and after 1845 burials were made in the newly open-
ed Colonial Cemetery in Happy Valley.

Just a bit to the east, near St, Francis Sireet was the Roman
Catholic Cemetery. Here the Catholic Church built a hospital, a
chapel, a Mission House, and day schools. Later the Canossian
Sisters built a convent where they ministered to the sick, the poor,
and the aged. These institutions attracted a number of poor Portu-
guese families and created a Chinese Roman Catholic population
surrounding it. A piece of vacant land between the two cemeteries

* An association of local residents, usually shopkeepers, commonly
found in the commtercial ceantres and market towns of the Hong Kong
area.

* The Tung Wah Hospital, established in 1870, for over 100 years the
leading Chinese charitable institution in Hong Kong and now more
flourishing than ever. See H. J. Lethbridge ‘A Chinese Association in
Hong Kong: the Tung Wah’ in Confributions to Asian Studies (Leiden)
Vol. 1 (1971): 144-158.
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was bought by the Church and a large number of houses were built
for the poor. In 1849, the Roman Catholics acquired land next to
the Colonial Cemetery at Happy Valley and ceased burying in the
old cemetery, though headstones remained scattered about for a
long time.

Another Roman Catholic institution was located south of
Queen’s Road on the water front between what is the present
Anton Street and Li Chit Street. Here the French Sisters of St.
Paul de Chartres, who arrived in Hong Kong in 1848, built an
orphanage called the Asile des Sainte Enfance.

In 1845, two Americans, Charles Emery and George Frazer,
moved their ship-building yard from Kowloon Point to 2 lot east
of the French Orphanage. The yard passed through a succession
of owners. In 1880 George Fenwick came into possession. He gave
his name to the present Fenwick Street. In 1871 the Hong Kong
Pier and Godown Company was launched to develop extensive
wharfing and storage facilities. It occupied the land between the
Orphanage and the ship yard. The present Gresson Street intersects
the original property. The venture was not a success and the Com-
pany went into liquidation in 1873. In 1876 several Europeans
financed by Chinese capital built the Oriental Sugar Refinery on
property now defined by Swatow and Amoy Streets. It also soon
failed and passed into receivership. Eventually it was taken over
by Jardine, Matheson and Company and was merged with their
China Sugar Refining plant at East Point.

The first Protestant Chapel in the area was built in 1863 on
Wan Chai Road by the London Missionary Society. A school was
also opened supported by Chinese subscriptions. The present Ying-
Wa Girls School had its origins in the Wanchai Girls’ Boarding
School of the London Missionary Society opened in 1883. The
Wanchai Chinese Methodist Church on the iriangle of Hennessy
Road, Fenwick Street and Queen’s Road East was occupied in 1936.

The Urban Services Office, where we are having tea, and the
Wanchai Post Office next to it, are located on a lot which was sold
to the first American resident of Hong XKong, Charles V. Gillespie.
Here in the spring of 1842, he built a substantial brick house of
six rooms surrounded by a verandah at a cost of about $2,800. It
was called “Jorrock’s Hall” (sic) and was located on Inland Lot 14.
The adjoining Lot No. 15 was also owned by Gillespie. He sold it
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to Dr. Peter Young of the Hong Kong Dispensary, but Dr. Young
was prevented from building on it by the Governor’s Notification
of 10 April 1843, that no further building was to continue until
after the signing of a Treaty determining the future of Hong Kong
as a British possession. Both of the lots were later resumed by
Government and a Police Station was built on the site.

Across the Queen’s Road and on the sea front from “Jorrock’s
Hall” was the business establishment of Gillespie operated in Cap-
tain Thomas Larkin’s godown. Here he sold general provisions
and goods suitable for trade with the Pacific Islands. Larkin’s
Godowns were just west of another extensive range of buildings
called the Albany Godowns. They were built to store the goods of
Chinese merchants, but they were not a financial success and stood
empty or partially used for a number of years. Finally the land
reverted to government in 1847. In 1855 both Larkin’s Godown
and the Albany Gedowns were resold by Government and in the
1860°’s they were used for McGregor’s Barracks by the Military,
.giving the present McGregor Sireet its name,

(3) VisiT 10 OLD WESTERN DISTRICT, SATURDAY, 8§ JUNE, 1974
Route Instructions

Meet at Chinese Recreation Ground, Possession Point (the British
flag was raised here in January 1841).

Enter Possession Street and visit: 1) Offices of the Tung Kwun
Trade Assn. (including the roof, from which an excellent view can
be obtained); 2) The Foo Lung Restaurant (2nd and 3rd floors
only).

The Tung Kwun District Commercial Association, as the Tung
Yee Hop Tong, was founded in 1893. There are several interesting
photographs and inscriptions in this office.

From there the group will go along Far Hing Street — a lane with
many embroidery stores in it— to the Shun Tak District Com-
mercial Association at 67, Queen’s Road, West. The Association
owns the whole building and its office occupies the 2nd floor. The
interior is practically the same with photographs, furniture and
inscriptions as provided in 1915 when the Association was founded.
The Association dates in fact from much earlier, around 1875,
under the name of a Tong or ‘Hall’ (8 N5 & 4514 &)



